
 

London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 

ASSEMBLY 
 

Wednesday, 10 January 2007 - 7:00 pm 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Barking 

 
To: Members of the Council of the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 
 
 Chair:   Councillor J Davis 
 Deputy-Chair:  Councillor W F L Barns 
 
 

        
       R. A. Whiteman 

        Chief Executive 
 
 

Contact Officer Barry Ray 
Tel. 020 8227 2134 
Fax: 020 8227 2171 

Minicom: 020 8227 2685 
E-mail: barry.ray@lbbd.gov.uk 

 
 

AGENDA 
  
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declaration of Members Interest   
 
 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Members are asked to declare 

any personal or prejudicial interest they may have in any matter which is to be 
considered at this meeting.  
 

3. Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 6 
December 2006 (Pages 1 - 8)  

 
4. Petition regarding a request for a new community centre (Pages 9 - 12)  
 
5. Petition regarding parking adjacent to Dorothy Barley School (Pages  

13 - 17)  
 
6. Petition regarding parking adjacent to Manor Schools (Pages 19 - 22)  
 



 

7. Petition regarding traffic speed in Dagenham Road, Rush Green (Pages 
23 - 25)  

 
8. Customer Service Presentation - Strategic Finance - Our Customer Focus  
 
 Presentation by Patrick Clackett, Head of Strategic Finance and Audit.  

 
9. Motion (Pages 27 - 28)  
 
10. Appointments   
 
11. Leader's Question Time   
 
12. General Question Time   
 
13. Final Report of the Leasehold Management Scrutiny Panel (Pages 29 - 40) 
 
14. Any other public items which the Chair decides are urgent   
 
15. To consider whether it would be appropriate to pass a resolution to 

exclude the public and press from the remainder of the meeting due to 
the nature of the business to be transacted.   

 
Private Business 

 
The public and press have a legal right to attend Council meetings such as the 
Assembly, except where business is confidential or certain other sensitive 
information is to be discussed.  The list below shows why items are in the 
private part of the agenda, with reference to the relevant legislation (the 
relevant paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended).  There are no such items at the time of preparing this 
agenda.  

 
16. Any confidential or exempt items which the Chair decides are urgent   
 







 
ASSEMBLY 

 
Wednesday, 6 December 2006 

(7:00 - 9:30 pm) 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillor J Davis (Chair) 
Councillor W F L Barns (Deputy Chair) 

 
 Councillor A Agrawal Councillor J L Alexander
 Councillor R W Bailey Councillor Mrs S J Baillie
 Councillor R J Barnbrook Councillor R J Buckley
 Councillor Ms E Carpenter Councillor S Carroll
 Councillor H J Collins Councillor N Connelly
 Councillor J R Denyer Councillor Miss C L Doncaster
 Councillor R W Doncaster Councillor Mrs S A Doncaster
 Councillor C J Fairbrass Councillor M A R Fani
 Councillor Mrs K J Flint Councillor N S S Gill
 Councillor S S Gill Councillor D Hemmett
 Councillor I S Jamu Councillor S Kallar
 Councillor Mrs C A Knight Councillor Miss T A Lansdown
 Councillor R C Little Councillor J E McDermott
 Councillor Mrs P A Northover Councillor W W Northover
 Councillor E O Obasohan Councillor B Poulton
 Councillor Mrs J E Rawlinson Councillor Mrs L A Reason
 Councillor Mrs V M Rush Councillor L A Smith
 Councillor Miss N E Smith Councillor J Steed
 Councillor D A Tuffs Councillor Mrs P A Twomey
 Councillor G M Vincent Councillor L R Waker
 Councillor P T Waker Councillor Mrs M M West
 Councillor J R White 
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 Councillor G J Bramley Councillor Mrs D Hunt
 Councillor J K Jarvis Councillor M A McCarthy
 Councillor M E McKenzie Councillor L Rustem 
 
55. Declaration of Members Interest  
 
 There were no declarations of interest.  

 
56. Minutes (ordinary Assembly on 11 October 2006 and the Special Assembly 11 

October 2006)  
 
 Agreed.  

 

AGENDA ITEM 3

Page 1



 
57. Presentation by Anne Bristow, Corporate Director of Adult and Community 

Services  
 
 Received a presentation by Anne Bristow, the newly appointed Corporate Director of 

Adult and Community Services.  The presentation outlined the role of the Adult and 
Community Services Department in improving the quality of life, improving health as 
well as creating choices and control for the resident’s of the Borough.  
 

58. Local Government Ombudsman - Annual Letter 2005 / 2006  
 
 Received the Local Government Ombudsman's Annual Letter 2005 / 2006, presented 

by Mr Tony Redmond, the Local Government Ombudsman.   
 
The report commended the Council on a number of issues including a general reduction 
in the number of complaints received, a total of 86 complaints against last year’s total of 
103, and the previous year’s total of 133.  The most significant trend was a fall in 
housing related complaints from 60 to 42.  Complaints relating to housing benefit and 
social services also fell.   
 
It was particularly pleasing to note that Barking and Dagenham was the only Local 
Authority not to receive any complaints regarding planning issues and that the average 
response time to first enquiries was 21.6 days against a requested timescale of 28 
days. 
 
Mr Redmond also commended the relationship between his office and the Corporate 
Complaints Team and the Council’s willingness, in general, to respond constructively to 
settlement proposals. 
 
Members welcomed the report and thanked Mr Redmond for his presentation.  
 

59. Local Issue - Heritage Services Presentation  
 
 Received a presentation by Heather Wills, Head of Community Services and Libraries, 

Judith Etherton, Borough Archivist and Birthe Christensen, Museum Manager, Valence 
House.  The presentation outlined the importance of heritage, a brief description of 
Valence House and Eastbury Manor House and the future capital developments at 
these sites, as well as an overview of the services provided.  
 

60. Motions  
 
 Motion 1. Development, Planning and Regeneration 

 
Received the following motion moved by Councillor Barnbrook and 
seconded by Councillor Bailey: 

 
“The Council and thus local people must have the last say in all 
matters in regard to development, planning and regeneration, 
without veto, and not other authoritive (sic) bodies.” 

 
 
 

Page 2



Following discussion on this item it was moved by Councillor Mrs Reason 
and seconded by Councillor Agrawal that the motion be now put.  The 
motion was put to the vote and by a majority vote the motion was not 
agreed. 

 
Motion 2. Flying of the Union Flag 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Mrs Knight and 
seconded by Councillor Barnbrook: 

 
“To help restore civic pride and embrace the values of citizenship 
and Britishness (sic) that the Union Flag should fly over all council 
buildings 12 months of the year.” 

 
The following amendment (amendment 1) was moved by Councillor 
Connelly and seconded by Councillor Bailey: 

 
Add at the end - “As well as the union flag being displayed on all 
public buildings the cross of Saint George and the council crest flag 
should be displayed at the same time, these should be the only 
flags displayed.” 

 
The following amendment (amendment 2) was moved by Councillor Little 
and seconded by Councillor Fairbrass: 

 
Replace the original motion with – “That this Council adheres to its 
current custom of following the regulations, circulated by Command 
of Her Majesty, for flag flying on Government Offices.” 

 
The first amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was not 
agreed. 

 
The second amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was 
agreed. 

 
Agreed, that this Council adheres to its current custom of following the 
regulations, circulated by Command of Her Majesty, for flag flying on 
Government Offices. 

 
Motion 3. Covering of the face in public buildings 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Bailey and seconded 
by Councillor Steed: 

 
“In the interest of safety and community integration that all items 
that fully cover the face should be banned from all public buildings.  
This includes crash helmets, ski masks and balaclavas, and all 
religious face coverings such as the burqa and niqab.” 

 
The following amendment (amendment 1) was moved by Councillor 
Connelly and seconded by Councillor Bailey: 

 

Page 3



Add at the end - “If there is a genuine medical reason for the face 
needing to be covered e.g. burns victim or other covering to 
prevent injury or infection, that covering to be allowed in public 
buildings.” 

 
The following amendment (amendment 2) was moved by Councillor Mrs 
Rush and seconded by Councillor Agrawal: 

 
Replace the original motion with – “This Council will invite all 
visitors to cash offices, in Civic buildings, to voluntarily remove any 
head covering on entry, however we acknowledge the diversity of 
individuals and respect the right of our residents and visitors to 
exercise their lawful rights.” 

 
The first amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was not 
agreed. 

 
The second amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was 
agreed. 

 
Agreed, that this Council will invite all visitors to cash offices, in Civic 
buildings, to voluntarily remove any head covering on entry, however we 
acknowledge the diversity of individuals and respect the right of our 
residents and visitors to exercise their lawful rights. 

 
Motion 4. Collective Worship in Schools 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Buckley and 
seconded by Councillor Steed: 

 
“To improve integration and instil Christian values all maintained 
schools which have currently opted out of a daily act of collective 
worship should been (sic) made to reinstate them.” 

 
The following amendment was moved by Councillor Alexander and 
seconded by Councillor Agrawal: 

 
Replace the original motion with – “This Council notes the motion and 
reminds all Councillors that the Governors of the school set the school 
policy and the day to day running of the school is a matter for the Head 
Teacher.  If the mover of this motion has concerns about the policy of any 
school then they are advised to contact the Corporate Director of 
Children’s Services.” 

 
The amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was agreed. 

 
Agreed, that this Council notes the motion and reminds all Councillors 
that the Governors of the school set the school policy and the day to day 
running of the school is a matter for the Head Teacher.  If the mover of 
this motion has concerns about the policy of any school then they are 
advised to contact the Corporate Director of Children’s Services. 

 

Page 4



Motion 5. Halal Meat in Schools 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Bailey and seconded 
by Councillor Barnbrook. 

 
“All Halal meet (sic) be banned from all schools within the borough 
because the process of slitting an animal’s throat and leaving it to 
bleed to death without it being stunned is barbaric.” 

 
The following amendment was moved by Councillor Fairbrass and 
seconded by Councillor L Smith: 

 
Replace the original motion with – “This Council notes the motion 
and reminds all Councillors that the Governors of the school set the 
school policy and the day to day running of the school is a matter 
for the Head Teacher.  If the mover of this motion has concerns 
about the policy of any school then they are advised to contact the 
Corporate Director of Children’s Services.” 

 
The amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was agreed. 

 
Agreed, that this Council notes the motion and reminds all Councillors 
that the Governors of the school set the school policy and the day to day 
running of the school is a matter for the Head Teacher.  If the mover of 
this motion has concerns about the policy of any school then they are 
advised to contact the Corporate Director of Children’s Services. 

 
Motion 6. School Uniforms 
 

Withdrawn. 
 
Motion 7. Maintenance and Replacement of fencing on Council Properties 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Barnbrook and 
seconded by Councillor Bailey: 

 
“That funds be set aside for the maintenance and replacement of 
fencing on all council properties front and back.” 

 
Following discussion on this item the motion was put to the vote and by a 
majority vote was not agreed. 

 
Motion 8. Allocation of new Council Housing 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor R Doncaster and 
seconded by Councillor Barnbrook: 

 
“That all new council housing built in the Borough should be 
allocated to people that were born in the Borough or have lived 
continuously in the Borough for a period of not less than ten years.” 

 
 

Page 5



The following amendment was moved by Councillor L Smith and 
seconded by Councillor S Gill: 

 
Replace the original motion with – “This Council calls upon the 
Government to remove the restrictions on financing / funding in the 
Housing Act, for Council house building that applies to Local 
Authorities, and thereby allowing said authorities the same parity as 
the public sector/registered social landlord.” 

 
The amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was agreed. 

 
Agreed that this Council calls upon the Government to remove the 
restrictions on financing / funding in the Housing Act, for Council house 
building that applies to Local Authorities, and thereby allowing said 
authorities the same parity as the public sector/registered social landlord. 

 
Motion 9. Metal Detectors in Schools 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Steed and seconded 
by Councillor Buckley: 

 
“That all schools should have metal detectors and full time security 
contractors present through out the day to reduce knife crime and improve 
security and discipline.” 

 
The following amendment (amendment 1) was moved by Councillor 
Connelly and seconded by Councillor Bailey: 

 
Add at the end – “Anybody caught within a school with an offensive 
weapon without good reason to be sanctioned for example, a large 
fine to be paid directly to school funds, expulsion from all the 
schools in the Borough.” 

 
The following amendment (amendment 2) was moved by Councillor Mrs 
Rush and seconded by Councillor Agrawal: 

 
Replace the original motion with – “This Council notes the motion 
and reminds all Councillors that the Governors of the school set the 
school policy and the day to day running of the school is a matter 
for the Head Teacher.  If the mover of this motion has concerns 
about the policy of any school then they are advised to contact the 
Corporate Director of Children’s Services.” 

 
The first amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was not 
agreed. 

 
The second amendment was put to the vote and by a majority vote was 
agreed. 

 
 
 
 

Page 6



Agreed, that this Council notes the motion and reminds all Councillors 
that the Governors of the school set the school policy and the day to day 
running of the school is a matter for the Head Teacher.  If the mover of 
this motion has concerns about the policy of any school then they are 
advised to contact the Corporate Director of Children’s Services. 

 
Motion 10. Canvassing by Unregistered Political Groups  
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Miss Lansdown and 
seconded by Councillor Steed: 

 
“That all unregistered political groups that are not standing 
candidates in any elections should be banned from canvassing, 
leafleting and any other activities that may unduly influence the 
outcome of elections.” 

 
Following discussion on this item the motion was put to the vote and by a 
majority vote was not agreed. 

 
Motion 11. St George’s Day 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Bailey and seconded 
by Councillor Barnbrook: 

 
“That St Georges Day (sic), our national saint, be recognised by the 
Council and money set aside for set (sic) Georges Day 
celebrations.” 

 
Following discussion on this item it was moved by Councillor Mrs Reason 
and seconded by Councillor Agrawal that the motion be put.  The motion 
was put to the vote and by a majority vote the motion was not agreed. 

 
Motion 12. Singing of the National Anthem 
 

Received the following motion moved by Councillor Mrs S Doncaster and 
seconded by Councillor Barnbrook: 

 
“That to increase integration and improve citizenship all schools as 
part of their assembly should sing the National Anthem.” 

 
The following amendment was moved by Councillor Alexander and 
seconded by Councillor Agrawal: 

 
Replace the original motion with – “This Council notes the motion 
and reminds all Councillors that the Governors of the school set the 
school policy and the day to day running of the school is a matter 
for the Head Teacher.  If the mover of this motion has concerns 
about the policy of any school then they are advised to contact the 
Corporate Director of Children’s Services.” 

 
 
 

Page 7



At 9.30 pm, it was moved by Councillor Fairbrass and seconded by Councillor Mrs Rush 
that the meeting end.  This was agreed by a majority vote leaving unfinished business 
referred to the next meeting including the completion of the debate on motion 12 above. 
 

61. Appointments  
 
 Deferred to the next meeting.  

 
62. Leader's Question Time  
 
 Deferred to the next meeting.  

 
63. General Question Time  
 
 Deferred to the next meeting.  

 
64. Final Report of the Leasehold Management Scrutiny Panel  
 
 Deferred to the next meeting.  

 

Page 8



THE ASSEMBLY 
 

10 JANUARY 2006 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION 
 
Title: Petition: Request for a New Community Centre 
 

For Decision 

Summary:  
 
This report set out the contents of a petition received by the Council in August 2005 from 
Punjabi Welfare Association for additional community facilities for the Punjabi community 
on the site of The Lintons and suggesting that a commemorative statue of Elizabeth Fry be 
erected in the Quaker’s burial ground. 
 
It also outlines the work to be undertaken with the Punjabi Community to define their 
requirements in more detail and sets out the next steps in being able to take forward the 
potential provision of community space in the redevelopment of The Lintons site. 
 
It also proposes that discussion be held with the Religious Society of Friends and the 
community as to an appropriate way of commemorating Elizabeth Fry. 
 
Wards Affected: Abbey 
 
Implications: 
Financial: 
 
Until the detail of the proposal is finalised it is not possible to quantify the financial impact.  
Any provision of additional community facilities on The Lintons site will have a financial 
impact on the council as it could potentially reduce any capital receipt and/or any on-going 
income stream.   
 
Legal: 
 
The Council’s Divisional Director of Legal Services will advise upon the legal 
documentation required for any proposed community facilities. 
 
Risk Management: 
 
There are a number of risks associated with the project.  The main risk is that the 
community cannot find the funds to develop and run the space.  This risk will be managed 
through the development of a comprehensive business plan with the Punjabi community; 
no lease will be grant to a group unless they can demonstrate that they are able to 
financially support and efficiently manage the property. 
 
Social Inclusion and Diversity: 
 
The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 places a requirement on local authorities to 
make an assessment of the impact of new and revised policies in terms of race equality. 
Existing policies have already been subjected to impact assessments.  This Authority has 
adopted an approach of extending the impact to cover gender, disability, sexuality, faith, 
age and community cohesion. 

AGENDA ITEM 4

Page 9



A Policy Proofing process has been introduced to assess such impacts and the outcome 
insofar as this report is concerned is there will be no adverse impacts.   
 
Extensive consultation and work will take place with the Punjabi community to ensure that 
any facility developed will be fully utilised by all members of the community and to ensure 
that there are opportunities to ensure that the wider population can benefit from the facility. 
 
Crime and Disorder: 
 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a responsibility on local authorities 
to consider the crime and disorder implications of any proposals.  In relation to this report 
there are no specific implications from this report, however the advice of the community 
safety teams and the crime prevention officer will be obtained at the design stage for any 
new development. 
 
Options Appraisal: 
 
The option of not considering the community’s request was considered, however, this 
would not assist in meeting the community’s needs. 
 
A further option of considering provision of the additional community space, not on The 
Lintons site was rejected on the grounds that  this would mean the centre would be 
divorced from existing provision, potentially more costly to run and would not be used by 
the target community.  Also at present there are no other available sites in Barking Town 
Centre. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
The Assembly is asked to agree: 
 
1. That officers will continue to work with the Punjabi community to assist them with 

preparing a business case and the identification of possible funding from both their own 
resources and externally; 

 
2. Subject to an agreed business case showing that a community group can resource the 

project that a further report be presented to the Executive to consider disposal of land 
or lease of a property to a community group on terms to be agreed; and 

 
3. That discussion be held with the Religious Society of Friends and the community as to 

an appropriate way of commemorating Elizabeth Fry and for a further report to be 
made to the Executive.  

 
Reason(s) 
 
To meet Council’s Community Priorities of  Raising general pride in the borough, 
Promoting equal opportunities and celebrating diversity; Developing rights and 
responsibilities with the local community; Improving health, housing and social care and 
Providing better education and learning for all. 
 

Page 10



Contact Officer: 
Jeremy Grint 

Title: 
Head of Spatial 
Regeneration 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 2443 
Fax: 020 8227 5326 
E-mail: jeremy.grint@lbdd.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 In August 2005 a petition was received by the Council from the Punjabi Welfare 

Association requesting that provision for additional community space is made for 
them during the regeneration of The Lintons and suggesting that a commemorative 
statue of Elizabeth Fry be erected in the Quaker’s burial ground.  In November 2005 
a request was received from the Gurdwara Singh Sabha London East also 
requesting the provision of a centre to provide: meeting and office space, training 
facilities, space for children’s activities and indoor games as part of the regeneration 
of The Lintons area in Barking.  After initial correspondence, following a request 
from the lead petitioner, the petition was held in abeyance  

 
2. Existing Facilities 
 
2.1 The existing facilities at the Gurdwara include: 
 

• Sikh Temple  
• Dining Hall  
• Old People Centre 
• Library facilities 

 
2.2 Different classes are held at the site including: Punjabi language classes, arts and 

music classes (open to all), library facilities (open to all), and a women’s yoga class.   
 
3. The Petition 
 
3.1 A workshop was held with representatives of the Management Board of the 

Gurdwara and the Barking and Dagenham Punjabi Welfare Association in July 
2006, which identified that the community had two requirements: one related to the 
need to provide more office, educational and meeting space at the Gurdwara that 
could be included as a requirement in the brief for the redevelopment of The 
Lintons.  The community outlined that there is a need to split religious and 
community activities and due to the limited space available the facilities are 
overcrowded with approximately 400 children and 200 older people using the 
facilities.  This means that they cannot expand the services provided.  The proposal 
is to have additional classes, English for Speakers of Other Language classes, an 
advice surgery and more services for the elderly. 

 
3.2 The other need was for a larger hall facility to be a major venue for sports activities 

and celebrations, principally weddings.  This would need to be able to 
accommodate 700 – 1,000 people.  The feasibility and impact of a facility of this 
size would need to be examined in more detail, before any commitment could be 
made; however, it is unlikely that The Lintons site would be a suitable location for a 
development of a facility of this size, which could potentially be run as a commercial 
operation. 

 

Page 11



3.3 With regard to a memorial to Elizabeth Fry, the Religious Society of Friends would need 
to be contacted about how they would wish Elizabeth Fry to be commemorated.  It is 
proposed that, after consultation, an appropriate form of memorial is pursued subject to 
funding being available.  There is funding from an existing Town Planning Section 106 
Agreement relating to the development of a nearby site specifically for improvements to 
the Quaker Burial Ground that could be used to facilitate this work. 

 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 In August 2004 the Council agreed to bring forward the redevelopment of The 

Lintons site.  It is currently proposed that the site would be redeveloped as a 
predominantly housing site with the potential to include a new Local Enterprise 
Growth Initiative – Enterprise Centre.  Officers of the Council are preparing 
documentation to take forward the appointment of a development partner. 

 
4.2 The provision of community space in any redevelopment of The Lintons may have 

financial implications for the Council since there is likely to be an opportunity cost 
involved in any transfer of land for these less valuable purposes.  This could result 
in a reduced receipt to the Council from the sale of the site.  It is not possible to 
quantify how large this reduction might be at present as issues relating to the size, 
fit out, rental, service charges and ownership of the centre have not been finalised.  
A business plan would be required from any community group to ensure that they 
have the capacity to sustain a new facility and pay any costs involved in its 
development. 

 
4.2 A report outlining the financial implications of the disposal including requirements 

for any community facility would be presented to the Council prior to any 
development agreement being signed. 

 
5. Consultees 
 
5.1 The following were consulted in the preparation of this report: 

 
Councillor S Kallar 
Councillor R Little 
Councillor J Alexander 
Councillor G Bramley 
Councillor M Fani 
Mohammad Saleem, Solicitor to the Council 
Robin Hanton, Group Manager - Corporate Law and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Alex Anderson, Group Manager - Regeneration and Customer Services Finance 
Julian Stanyer, Project Manager - Land Disposal / Acquisitions 
Philip Baldwin, Group Manager – Community Development 

 
 
 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
y Petition 
y Minute 93 of Assembly held on 1 March 2006 

Page 12



THE ASSEMBLY 
 

10 JANUARY 2007 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION 
 
Title: Petition regarding parking adjacent to Dorothy 
Barley Infants School 
 

For Decision 
 

Summary:  
 
The Council has received a petition with 302 signatures regarding concerns at 
indiscriminate and hazardous parking adjacent to Dorothy Barley Infants School in 
Davington Road when parents deliver or collect their children.  There is a request for 
additional enforcement action.  
 
The Council has undertaken a range of initiatives at this school and at others across the 
Borough in an attempt to address the problems of parent parking.  Unfortunately some 
parents persist in parking in breach of the prevailing parking restrictions when delivering or 
collecting their children. 
 
These problems occur at many schools at the same times of the day and many schools 
have multiple entrances. This means that the limited resources of the Council’s Parking 
Enforcement Service are unable to attend at all schools to a sufficient frequency to have a 
deterrent affect. 
 
At the meeting with the lead petitioner, the School Head Teacher and the Portfolio Holder 
for highways, road safety and parking services it was agreed to: 

• introduce a CCTV unit to enforce parking restrictions in addition to visits by Parking 
Attendants 

• issue cones for the school to protect the zig-zag parking area and  
• Ensure that the Road Safety Team continues to work closely with the school to 

ensure that children and parents are made aware of road safety and enforcement 
initiatives. 

 
Wards Affected: Mayesbrook Ward 
 
Implications: 
Financial:  
 
The Road Safety Team of the Highways and Civil Engineering Service have been 
successful in securing funding for a small number of new ‘mobile’ CCTV units from the 
Performance Reward Grant in recognition for successfully contributing to the aims of the 
Local Public Service Agreement 
 
Legal: 
 
As this represents an extension of existing parking enforcement processes, there are no 
significant legal implications  
 

AGENDA ITEM 5

Page 13



 
Risk Management: 
 
No significant risks identified if the Assembly approves the recommendations. 
 
Social Inclusion and Diversity: 
 
The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 places a requirement on local authorities to 
make an assessment of the impact of new and revised policies in terms of race equality. 
Existing policies have already been subjected to impact assessments.  This Authority has 
adopted an approach of extending the impact to cover gender, disability, sexuality, faith, 
age and community cohesion. 
 
As this report does not concern a new or revised policy there are no specific adverse 
impacts insofar as this report is concerned. 
 
Crime and Disorder: 
 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a responsibility on local authorities 
to consider the crime and disorder implications of any proposals.   
 
There are no specific implications insofar as this report is concerned. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
The Assembly is asked to agree: 
 
1. The use of a temporary CCTV unit in the Dorothy Barley Infants School area to enforce 

parking restrictions and deter parking abuse by parents delivering or collecting their 
children to/from school; 

 
2. Maintain the publicity campaigns with parents and children of the school and to inform 

of the new initiative involving CCTV parking enforcement; and 
 
3. The CCTV unit to remain in place until parking abuse reduces to such a level that 

consideration is given to its use at alternate school sites.  The unit should be 
reintroduced if it appears that parking abuse begins to increase. 

 
Reason(s) 
 
The Assembly is recommended to agree the recommendations as they represent a new 
initiative to curb obstructive and hazardous parent parking adjacent to schools.  If 
successful, initial income should cover revenue costs and subsequently the amount of 
parking in breach of prevailing restrictions will reduce  
 
Contact Officer: 
Gary Ellison 

Title: 
Group Manager for 
Highway and Civil 
Engineering Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 3226 
Fax: 020 8227 3116 
E-mail: gary.ellison@lbbd.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 14



 
1.  Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 The Road Safety Team of the Highways and Civil Engineering Service has a variety 

of initiatives underway to deter parents unnecessarily using their cars to transport 
their children to and from school and to encourage walking and cycling.  
Unfortunately there are still many parents who choose to use their vehicle. 

 
1.2 Although the Council recognises that it is preferable to use sustainable forms of 

travel some parents will have no choice but to use a vehicle.  This should not 
represent a problem if drivers park responsibly, without causing an obstruction or in 
contravention of the parking restrictions 

 
1.3 The Council has introduced enforceable zig-zag markings adjacent to school 

entrances in order to provide areas where visibility is improved if drivers respect the 
restriction.  Regrettably some drivers persist in parking on yellow line parking 
restrictions such as the zig-zag school keep clear markings.  In addition some 
parents obstruct residential vehicular crossovers. 

 
1.4 The Road Safety Team was successful in securing an allocation from the 

Performance Reward Grant for contributing to the achievement of the Local Public 
Service Agreement.  This funding will enable the purchase of a small number of 
CCTV units that can be introduced at school sites for a number of months until 
compliance with the restrictions improve by increased enforcement. 

 
1.5 A meeting was held with the lead petitioner, Head Teacher and the Portfolio Holder 

for services such as highways, road safety and parking.  It is clear that the 
community is seeking additional action by the Council to enforce the zig-zag parking 
restrictions.  They are concerned that hazardous parking is increasing the potential 
for an accident and they believe that if enforcement was increased road safety 
would be improved. 

 
1.6 It is worth noting that they commended the excellent work of the Road safety Team, 

but felt that enforcement of parking contraventions was inadequate.  
 
2. Current Position 
 
2.1 Investigation is underway with regard to potential locations for installation of a 

CCTV unit that will be able to feed back to the control centre where qualified 
parking enforcement staff operate. 

 
2.2 The Parking Enforcement Service and Road Safety Team are making 

arrangements regarding staffing arrangements to initiate enforcement once the unit 
is place if approved by the Assembly. 

 
2.3 Since the pre-Assembly meeting Road Safety Officers have undertaken the 

following: 
• Issue of literature to parents regarding hazardous parking 
• Attendance at the school gate at peak use periods 
• Introduction of ‘park elsewhere’ banners. 

 
2.4 In addition the Community beat officer has made occasional visits 

Page 15



3. Report Detail 
 
3.1 The Council has received a petition with 302 signatures regarding parking adjacent 

to Dorothy Barley Infants School in Davington Road.  The petition states “We need 
to make our children’s journey to school as safe as possible whether or not you 
walk or drive.  By people parking outside the white lines or on the yellow zigzags 
our children are at risk of serious maybe fatal injuries. We are looking to get the 
traffic patrol to start checking for and fining the people who put our children at risk. 
By parking in the designated areas not over the driveways and working together 
along side the local residents we can make it a safer street for all.  Please sign our 
petition and help us in making the streets safe for our children”. 

 
3.2 Over a number of years, the Council has undertaken a range of initiatives at these 

schools and at others across the Borough in an attempt to address the problems of 
parent parking.  These have included Safer Routes to School, Walk to School 
Weeks, and School Travel Plan preparation.  

 
3.3 A significant number of parents across the Borough persist in parking in breach of 

the prevailing parking restrictions when delivering or collecting their children.  These 
problems occur at many schools at the same times of the day. 

 
3.4 Many schools have multiple entrances and this means that the limited resources of 

the Council’s Parking Enforcement Service are unable to enforce at all school 
entrances to a sufficient frequency to have a deterrent affect.   

 
3.5 The Council has implemented different initiatives to encourage walking and enforce 

the parking restrictions.  The Council is in the process of purchasing a number of 
CCTV units that can be located at schools for fixed periods and used for the 
enforcement of parking controls such as yellow line restrictions and zig-zag keep 
clear markings.  This will supplement irregular visits by the Parking Enforcement 
Service. 

 
3.6 Penalty Charge Notices (parking tickets) can be issued via the postal service after 

information of the owner is obtained from the DVLA. 
 
3.7 A meeting was held with the lead petitioner, the School Head Teacher and the 

Portfolio Holder for highways, road safety and parking services where it was 
agreed, subject to the approval of the Assembly, to introduce a CCTV unit to 
enforce parking restrictions, issue cones for the school to use to protect the zig-zag 
parking area and ensure that the Road Safety Team continues to work closely with 
the school to ensure that children and parents are made aware of road safety and 
enforcement initiatives. 

 
4. Implications 
 
4.1 If accepted, this initiative will represent a significant improvement in enforcement 

action at school entrances.  If successful, the units can be periodically relocated to 
other schools and/or school entrances where parking problems persist. 

Page 16



 
4.2 If the CCTV units prove to be an effective deterrent, income will reduce rapidly at 

each site as drivers become aware of the effectiveness of CCTV enforcement.  At 
this stage a CCTV unit should be relocated to a site where parking difficulties exist  

 
5. Consultees 
 
5.1 This report has been issued to the following consultees: 
 

Councillor McKenzie – Lead Portfolio Holder 
Barbara Cronin – Road Safety Manager 
Tony Watson – Interim Parking Manager 

 
 
 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
• Petition 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



THE ASSEMBLY 
 

10 JANUARY 2007 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION 
 
Title: Petition regarding parking adjacent to Manor 
Schools 
 

For Decision 
 

Summary:  
 
The Council has received a petition with 327 signatures regarding indiscriminate and 
hazardous parking adjacent to Manor schools in the Sandringham Road / Stratton Drive 
area of Barking.  
 
The Council has undertaken a range of initiatives at these schools and at others across 
the Borough in an attempt to address the problems of parent parking.  Unfortunately some 
parents persist in parking in breach of the prevailing parking restrictions when delivering or 
collecting their children. 
 
The Council is purchasing a number of CCTV units that can be located at schools for fixed 
periods and used for the enforcement of parking controls such as yellow line restrictions 
and zig-zag keep clear markings. 
 
A meeting was held with the lead petitioner, Ward Councillors and the Portfolio Holder for 
highways, road safety and parking services where it was agreed to introduce a CCTV unit 
to enforce parking restrictions in conjunction with a publicity exercise with parents 
(involving the children) at the school regarding their responsibility to park correctly and 
without causing a hazard to pedestrians or other road users  
 
Wards Affected: Longbridge Ward 
 
Implications: 
Financial:  
 
The Road Safety Team of the Highways and Civil Engineering Service have been 
successful in securing funding for a small number of new ‘mobile’ CCTV units from the 
Performance Reward Grant in recognition for successfully contributing to the aims of the 
Local Public Service Agreement 
 
Legal: 
 
As this represents an extension of existing parking enforcement processes, there are no 
significant legal implications  
 
Risk Management: 
 
No significant risks identified if the Assembly approves the recommendations 
 

AGENDA ITEM 6

Page 19



 
Social Inclusion and Diversity: 
 
The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 places a requirement on local authorities to 
make an assessment of the impact of new and revised policies in terms of race equality. 
Existing policies have already been subjected to impact assessments.  This Authority has 
adopted an approach of extending the impact to cover gender, disability, sexuality, faith, 
age and community cohesion. 
 
As this report does not concern a new or revised policy there are no specific adverse 
impacts insofar as this report is concerned. 
 
Crime and Disorder: 
 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a responsibility on local authorities 
to consider the crime and disorder implications of any proposals.   
 
There are no specific implications insofar as this report is concerned. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
The Assembly is asked to agree: 
 
1. The use of a temporary CCTV unit in the Manor School area to enforce parking 

restrictions and deter parking abuse by parents delivering or collecting their children 
to/from school; 

 
2. A publicity exercise with parents and children of the school with regard to the new 

initiative involving CCTV parking enforcement; and 
 
3. The CCTV unit to remain in place until parking abuse reduces to such a level that 

consideration is given to its use at alternate school sites.  The unit should be 
reintroduced if it appears that parking abuse begins to increase 

 
Reason(s) 
 
The Assembly is recommended to agree the recommendations as they represent a new 
initiative to curb obstructive and hazardous parent parking adjacent to schools.  If 
successful, initial income should cover revenue costs and subsequently the amount of 
parking in breach of prevailing restrictions will reduce  
 
Contact Officer: 
Gary Ellison 

Title: 
Group Manager for 
Highway and Civil 
Engineering Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 3226 
Fax: 020 8227 3116 
E-mail: gary.ellison@lbbd.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 20



1. Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 The Road Safety Team of the Highways and Civil Engineering Service has a variety 

of initiatives underway to deter parents unnecessarily using their cars to transport 
their children to and from school and to encourage walking and cycling.  
Unfortunately there are still many parents who choose to use their vehicle. 

 
1.2 Although the Council recognises that it is preferable to use sustainable forms of 

travel some parents will have no choice but to use a vehicle.  This should not 
represent a problem if drivers park responsibly, without causing an obstruction or in 
contravention of the parking restrictions 

 
1.3 The Council has introduced enforceable zig-zag markings adjacent to school 

entrances in order to provide areas where visibility is improved if drivers respect the 
restriction.  Regrettably some drivers persist in parking on yellow line parking 
restrictions such as the zig-zag school keep clear markings.  In addition some 
parents obstruct residential vehicular crossovers. 

 
1.4 The Road Safety Team was successful in securing an allocation from the 

Performance Reward Grant for contributing to the achievement of the Local Public 
Service Agreement.  This funding will enable the purchase of a small number of 
CCTV units that can be introduced at school sites for a number of months until 
compliance with the restrictions improve by increased enforcement. 

 
1.5 A meeting was held with the lead petitioner, ward councillors and the Portfolio 

Holder for services such as highways, road safety and parking.  It is clear that the 
community is seeking additional action by the Council to enforce the zig zag parking 
restrictions.  They are concerned that hazardous parking is increasing the potential 
for an accident and they believe that if enforcement was increased road safety 
would be improved.  

 
2. Current Position 
 
2.1 Investigation is underway with regard to potential locations for installation of a 

CCTV unit that will be able to feed back to the control centre where qualified 
parking enforcement staff operate. 

 
2.2 The Parking Enforcement Service and Road Safety Team are making 

arrangements regarding staffing arrangements to initiate enforcement once the unit 
is place. 

 
3. Report Detail 
 
3.1 The Council has received a petition with 327 signatures regarding parking adjacent 

to Manor schools in the Sandringham Road/Stratton Drive area of Barking.  The 
petition states “Please sign this petition if you agree that people should not park on 
the zig zag lines outside Manor Infants School at anytime, as they are putting your 
children’s lives at risk”.  From the accompanying letter and the meeting with the 
lead petitioner it is clear that parent parking is considered to be a hazard that is 
putting children under unnecessary risk. 

 

Page 21



3.2 Over a number of years, the Council has undertaken a range of initiatives at these 
schools and at others across the Borough in an attempt to address the problems of 
parent parking.  These have included Safer Routes to School, Walk to School 
Weeks, and School Travel Plan preparation.   

 
3.3 A significant number of parents across the Borough persist in parking in breach of 

the prevailing parking restrictions when delivering or collecting their children.  These 
problems occur at many schools at the same times of the day. 

 
3.4 Many schools have multiple entrances and this means that the limited resources of 

the Council’s Parking Enforcement Service are unable to enforce at all school 
entrances to a sufficient frequency to have a deterrent affect.   

 
3.5 The Council has implemented different initiatives to encourage walking and enforce 

the parking restrictions.  The Council is in the process of purchasing a number of 
CCTV units that can be located at schools for fixed periods and used for the 
enforcement of parking controls such as yellow line restrictions and zig-zag keep 
clear markings.  This will supplement irregular visits by the Parking Enforcement 
Service. 

 
3.6 Penalty Charge Notices (parking tickets) can be issued via the postal service after 

information of the owner is obtained from the DVLA. 
 
3.7 At the meeting held with the lead petitioner, ward councillors and the Portfolio 

Holder for highways, road safety and parking services it was agreed, subject to the 
approval of the Assembly, that the introduction of a CCTV unit to enforce parking 
restrictions should be undertaken in conjunction with a publicity campaign with 
parents (involving the children) at the schools regarding their responsibility to park 
appropriately. 

 
4. Implications 
 
4.1 If accepted, this initiative will represent a significant improvement in enforcement 

action at school entrances.  If successful, the units can be periodically relocated to 
other schools and/or school entrances where parking problems persist. 

 
4.2 If the CCTV units prove to be an effective deterrent, income will reduce rapidly at 

each site as drivers become aware of the effectiveness of CCTV enforcement.  At 
this stage a CCTV unit should be relocated to a site where parking difficulties exist  

 
5. Consultees 
 
5.1 This report has been issued to the following consultees:- 
 

Councillor McKenzie – Lead Portfolio Holder 
Barbara Cronin – Road Safety Manager 
Tony Watson – Interim Parking Manager 

 
 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
• Petition 

Page 22



THE ASSEMBLY 
 

10 JANUARY 2007 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION 
 
Title: Petition regarding traffic speed in Dagenham 
Road, Rush Green 
 

For Decision 
 

Summary:  
 
The Council has received a petition regarding traffic speed in Dagenham Road, Rush 
Green and the potential for road safety accidents and hazard to wild life.  
 
The petition is long outstanding but from discussion with the lead petitioner it was clear 
that changes in traffic conditions in the area had addressed the concerns covered by the 
petition.  The current main issue in the area was related to anti social behaviour regarding 
young people using motorised two wheel vehicles. 
 
It was agreed that Ward Councillors would seek greater enforcement from the Police 
against anti social behaviour. 
 
Wards Affected:  Eastbrook Ward 
 
Implications: 
Financial:  
 
There are no financial implications. 
 
Legal: 
 
There are no legal implications. 
 
Risk Management: 
 
No significant risks identified if the Assembly approves the recommendations. 
 
Social Inclusion and Diversity: 
 
The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 places a requirement on local authorities to 
make an assessment of the impact of new and revised policies in terms of race equality. 
Existing policies have already been subjected to impact assessments.  This Authority has 
adopted an approach of extending the impact to cover gender, disability, sexuality, faith, 
age and community cohesion. 
 
As this report does not concern a new or revised policy there are no specific adverse 
impacts insofar as this report is concerned. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 7

Page 23



 
Crime and Disorder: 
 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a responsibility on local authorities 
to consider the crime and disorder implications of any proposals.   
 
The report recommends that the Council support a request for increased enforcement 
action to address anti social behaviour. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
The Assembly is asked to: 
 
1. Note that the issues covered in the petition have been addressed over time by 

initiatives introduced in the Dagenham Road, Rush Green area; and 
 
2. Support Ward Councillors in their request to seek action to address anti social 

behaviour in the area by the Police Service. 
 
Reason(s) 
 
The Assembly is recommended to agree the recommendations as they acknowledge that 
the grounds for the original petition are no longer considered valid.  Although the petition 
did not relate to anti social behaviour, the Council will be proactive in addressing current 
concerns by seeking attention by the Police Service 
 
Contact Officer: 
Gary Ellison 

Title: 
Group Manager for 
Highway and Civil 
Engineering Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8227 3226 
Fax: 020 8227 3116 
E-mail: gary.ellison@lbbd.gov.uk 
 

 
1.  Introduction and Background 
 
1.1 The Council received a petition from residents in the Dagenham Road, Rush Green 

area to ‘Slow down traffic’.  The accompanying letter from the lead petitioner 
requested the Council to introduce speed humps and reduce the danger to wild life. 

 
1.2 Unfortunately the petition has not been brought to the Assembly in a timely manner, 

but measures are in place to ensure that future petitions are dealt with in 
accordance with the Constitution. 

 
1.3 In recent years a number of changes have been introduced in the Dagenham Road, 

Rush Green area that have had a beneficial effect on traffic speed. 
 
1.4 A meeting was held with the lead petitioner, ward councillor and the Portfolio Holder 

for services including highways, road safety and parking to discuss the current 
conditions.  It was agreed that traffic speed in the area was under reasonable 
control but there was now a greater nuisance of young people acting in an anti 
social manner on two wheeled vehicles  

Page 24



 
2. Current Position 
 
2.1 Road safety is monitored across the Borough and it is pleasing that residents have 

accepted that measures introduced by the Council are having a positive effect on 
road safety in the area covered by the petition. 

 
3. Report Detail 
 
3.1 Residents of the Dagenham Road area petitioned the Council regarding traffic 

speed.  Regrettably the petition was not processed in good time. In recent weeks a 
meeting was held with the lead petitioner and Members where it was acknowledged 
that traffic and parking arrangements had changed in recent years. 

 
3.2 The refuge islands at the bends in Dagenham Road near the country park had been 

modified to deter excessive speed in this area and a mini roundabout was 
introduced in association with the development of the site of the former Rush Green 
hospital. 

 
3.3 A pelican crossing has been introduced adjacent to Barking College to assist 

pedestrians and increase safe use of local bus stops.   
 
3.4 A CCTV unit has been introduced after a successful bid to Transport for London to 

assist with parking enforcement in the area.  Residents consider that this has had a 
beneficial effect on traffic speed and parking. 

 
3.5 The Council has been successful in requesting the Road Safety Camera 

Partnership introduce a speed camera in Dagenham Road on an occasional basis. 
 
3.6 Speed humps would not be appropriate in Dagenham Road as it is a bus route. It 

was accepted by the lead petitioner that measures introduced had already 
significantly reduced community concerns at traffic speed in the area. 

 
3.7 The lead petitioner outlined current concerns regarding anti social behaviour of 

young people in the area using powered two wheeled vehicles and it was agreed 
that councillors would seek the assistance of the Police Service.  

 
4. Consultees 
 
5.1 This report has been issued to the following consultees: 
 

Councillor McKenzie – Lead Portfolio Holder 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers Used in the Preparation of the Report: 
• Petition for consideration – located with Highways and Civil Engineering Services. 
 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



List of Motions 
 

 
The following Motion was debated at the last meeting.  However, although the motion was 
debated, a vote on the motion was deferred as the meeting ran out of time. 
 
 
12. Singing of the National Anthem 
 

To be moved by Councillor Mrs S Doncaster 
 

“That to increase integration and improve citizenship all schools as part of their 
assembly should sing the National Anthem.” 

 

AGENDA ITEM 9

Page 27



Procedure for Motions on issues directly affecting the Borough 
 
1. Motions must be delivered to the Chief Executive not later than 4.00pm on the 

Wednesday two weeks before the meeting.   
 
2. They will be listed on the agenda in the order in which they are received  
 
3. Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which 

directly affect the borough. 
 
4. Amendments to motions should be presented in writing to the Chief Executive not later 

than 12 noon on the Friday before the meeting.  Amendments proposed after this time 
may only be considered with the consent of the Chair.  

 
5. A Member may alter or withdraw their motion or amendment at any time.  
 
6. Order / rules of debate: 
 

i) Except with the Chair’s consent, the debate on each motion shall last no longer 
than 10 minutes and no speech shall exceed 2 minutes. 

 
ii) The mover will move the motion and explain its purpose. 

 
iii) The seconder will then second the motion. 

 
iv) The Chair will then invite other Members to speak on the motion and put forward 

any amendments. 
 

v) Once all Members who wish to speak have done so, or the time limit has 
elapsed, the Chair will allow the mover a right of reply. 

 
vi) At the end of the debate, any amendments will be voted on in the order in which 

they were proposed. 
 

vii) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended becomes the substantive 
motion to which any further amendments are moved. 

 
viii) After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the amended 

motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to 
the vote. 

Page 28



THE ASSEMBLY 
 

10 JANUARY 2007 
 

REPORT OF THE LEASEHOLD MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
Title: Final Report of the Leasehold Management 
Scrutiny Panel 
 

For Decision 
 

Summary: 
 
Final Reports of Scrutiny Panels are submitted to the following parts of the Political 
Structure as set out in Paragraph 11 of Article 5B of the Constitution: 
 

(i) Scrutiny Management Board – for any advice or suggestions prior to finalisation 
and formal presentation to the Assembly 

(ii) The Executive – for consideration and, if necessary, response in a separate report 
or  verbally to the Assembly 

(iii) The Assembly – for adoption of the report, its findings and recommendations 
 
This report outlines the work of the Leasehold Management Scrutiny Panel, which 
included scrutiny of the Council’s Leasehold Management function, particularly the 
Council’s general relationship with leaseholders and our expectations of them, service 
charges, including billing and collection processes and leaseholders participation in 
consultation processes, visiting a London Borough and consultation with leaseholders. 
 
With regard to the Council’s Home Ownership and Leasehold Service, the Scrutiny Panel 
concluded that: 
 
• there is scope for reviewing and improving the information given to leaseholders;  
• communication and consultation with leaseholders can be more effective; 
• appropriate Information Technology (IT) / data bases are required within the Service.   
 
The Scrutiny Panel’s recommendations are intended to develop both a better general 
relationship between the Council and leaseholders and a better understanding of the 
Council’s and leaseholders’ expectations of each other.   
 
Wards Affected: All 
 
Implications: 
 
Financial: 
 
Generally, there are minimal financial implications from this report as the 
recommendations mainly concern administrative and operational improvements.  
However, there are costs associated to an enhanced/improved I.T system.  The Customer 
Services Department is planning to replace the current housing IT systems with a new 
comprehensive system, which would also include the functions applicable within the Home 
Ownership Service.  Given the scale of this piece of work it is likely to take up to two years 
to procure a new system.  All above costs will be contained within the existing budgets of 
the Housing Revenue Account. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 13

Page 29



 
Legal: None 
 
Risk Management: None 
 
Social Inclusion and Diversity: None 
 
Crime and Disorder: None 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
This Scrutiny Panel, on completion of its works, makes the following recommendations to 
the Assembly: 
 
1. to review the arrangements at London Borough of Greenwich, particularly in relation to 

the following and to implement into local practice where possible: 
• information for leaseholders, written and verbal (appropriate specific details of 

the proposed documentation / information for leaseholders is set out in 
Appendix 2) 

• contact with leaseholders – in person and by telephone 
• information technology / data bases 

 
2. to ensure that when procuring a new IT system for Customer Services, the needs of 

the Homeownership and Leasehold Service and its customers are adequately 
specified. 

 
Reason: 
 
So that the needs of the Council’s leaseholders are met by ensuring that their views are 
listened to and that adequate information is made available in a way that can be easily 
understood to Leaseholders. 
 
Contacts:  
Mrs J.E. Bruce 
(former Councillor) 
 
Kal Benning 
 

Title:  
Lead Member 
 
 
Team Manager 
Democratic Services 
 

Contact Details: 
 
 
 
Tel: 020 8227 2113 
Fax: 020 8227 2171 
E-mail: kalbinder.benning@lbbd.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The Scrutiny Management Board (SMB) meeting on the 9 November 2005 

considered a suggestion from the Corporate Management Team (CMT) that it might 
wish to consider looking more closely at the activities of the leasehold management 
work of the Council’s Right to Buy Team, with a broad aim of improving the 
Council’s relationship with the growing number of leaseholders in the Borough. 

 

Page 30



1.2 The SMB considered a number of areas of services provided to leaseholders by the 
Council’s Right to Buy and Leasehold Management Sections within the former 
Housing Department. The SMB decided that it would be beneficial to proceed with a 
scrutiny of leasehold management.  

 
1.3 The terms of reference for the panel and its membership were agreed by SMB at its 

meeting on 14 December 2005. A time frame of three months was set for the work 
of the panel, although this was extended as the panel had not completed its 
investigations. The panel met on three occasions, 9 February, 7 March and 13 
March 2006. 

 
2. Membership 
 
2.1 Membership of the panel comprised: 
 

Former Councillor Mrs J E Bruce (Lead Member)  
Councillor K J Flint 
Councillor D Hunt 
Former Councillor T J Justice  
Councillor Mrs J E Rawlinson 

 
2.2 Beryl Mayles, Barking & Dagenham Leaseholders Association was the panel’s 

external representative. However, she was substituted by Mr F. Button, also from 
the Association, as she was unable to attend panel meetings.  

 
2.3 Danny Caine, Business Manager, Housing Services, Customer Services 

Department, was the Lead Service Officer. 
 
2.4 Christine Shepherd, Head of Human Resources, Resources Department was the 

Independent Scrutiny Support Officer. 
 
3. Terms of Reference 
 
3.1 The terms of reference for the panel were: 
 

1. to review the leasehold management function within the Customer Services  
Department with a particular emphasis on: 

 
• the Council’s general relationship with leaseholders and our 

expectations of them 
• service charges, including the billing and collection processes, and 

how we prove value for money; and 
• leaseholders’ participation in consultation processes. 

 
2. in doing so have regard to best practice in leasehold management across 

other local authorities; 
 

3. like all Scrutiny Panels, to consider any related equalities and diversity and 
health issues; and the scope for efficiency gains. 

 

Page 31



4. The Work of the Panel 
 
4.1 The work of the panel comprised of three main exercises: 
 

• scrutiny of the current arrangements of the Council’s Leasehold Management 
function  

• visiting the London Borough of Greenwich as one of the best reforming 
authorities in London for leasehold management,   

• consultation with leaseholders.  
 
4.2 The findings of each exercise are set at below.   
 
5. The Council’s Home Ownership and Leasehold Service 
 
5.1 The Council has some 3000 leaseholders living in accommodation sold either to the 

occupant or re-sold to another occupier or bought to let. This accounts for 14% of 
the Council housing stock, and for the period 2004/05, £2.5 million was raised 
through service charge bills. Leaseholders now account for 60% of all sales 
completed and this compares to 50% in 2003/04. In 2004 the Right to Buy team 
expanded its services to leaseholders by creating and appointing to the post of 
Leasehold Service Manager. 

 
5.2 A number of new initiatives have taken place to improve the flow of information to 

leaseholders, however, unfortunately and all too often the Council’s relationship 
with leaseholders is difficult, particularly around service charges and contributions 
to major works schemes. Whilst the vast majority of leaseholders are happy to 
comply as long as they receive value for money services a significant minority seek 
to challenge every service charge bill and capital works estimate they may receive. 

 
5.3 In many cases there is no cost to the leaseholder in challenging an account and 

officers are anxious to rectify genuine complaints and concerns. However, a great 
deal of officer time is invested in proving costs for invoices or responding to 
challenges on tendering and procurement processes that appear, on occasion, to 
be submitted because they can be, rather than on the basis of any stated tangible 
concern. 

 
5.4 The information that is provided to leaseholders by the Council in relation to how 

the service charge bill has been arrived at could be improved and better information 
at this stage would undoubtedly save time at a later date in relation to dealing with 
enquiries.  

 
5.5 There are various forms of communication with leaseholders for example:  
 

• representation on a Community Housing Partnership (CHP) Board 
• newsletters 
• consultation on major works 
• leaseholder conference held annually  

 
However, there is scope for improvement, particularly in relation to the written 
information and guidance that is provided by the Council. 

 

Page 32



6. Best Practice visit to London Borough of Greenwich 
 
6.1. To learn from good practice the scrutiny panel agreed to a visit to a good 

performing authority. The London Borough of Greenwich (LB Greenwich) was 
considered a good option as it had recently attained 2 stars following an Audit 
Commission inspection.  

 
6.2 The visit took place on 7 March 2006 and comprised former Councillor Mrs Bruce 

(Lead Member), Councillor Mrs Flint and former Councillor Justice and Mr. F. 
Button, external representative, Danny Caine and Richard Kober, Customer 
Services Department were also in attendance.  Members and Officers focused on 
the homeownership arrangements at Greenwich and the relationship with 
leaseholders.  

 
6.3 Approximately 4 years ago the Home Ownership Service at LB Greenwich was 

inspected and received a 0 star (poor) rating from the Audit Commission. As a 
result of this assessment, the team was faced with a re-inspection.  At the time of 
the original inspection the team had 14 staff providing the Service and a business 
case was put in place to achieve improvements in the Service and it was re-
inspected and assessed as 2 stars. It has also recently been awarded a Charter 
Mark (the Government's national standard for excellence in customer service).  

 
6.4 Like Barking and Dagenham, LB Greenwich has also seen a reduction in the 

number of freehold right to buy applications and this has been linked to the increase 
in property values and the cap applied to Right to Buy (RTB) discount. However, 
there has been increased activity in assignments of leases with approximately 400 
per year. A majority of these assignments are seeing people coming from the 
private sector and as such they don’t view the Council as their landlord. The London 
Borough of Greenwich has approximately 4000 leasehold properties, this compares 
to almost 3000 in Barking and Dagenham. The average leasehold bill there is £569 
with the most expensive being £1,700 this compares to a local average of £450. 

 
6.5 Following the initial Audit Commission report, LB Greenwich restructured its Home 

Ownership Team which resulted in the setting up 5 teams with 5 Managers and 
staff totalling 32. Barking and Dagenham’s Home Ownership Team has 8 staff. 

 
6.6 In terms of LB Greenwich’s relationship with leaseholders, in the past there were 

problems with the information provided to leaseholders; incomprehensible bills and 
a limited information database meant that they didn’t know how many leaseholders 
they had due to the way that the services were fragmented.   

 
6.7 They also acknowledged that different types of leaseholders have different issues. 

For example, those living on large estates had different issues of concern to those 
living in a converted house; they felt that they had to get to know the leaseholders 
and build better relationships and they did this through creating partnerships with 
councillors, staff and the leaseholders. They now have a leaseholder forum which 
meets quarterly.  

 
6.8 LB Greenwich has a more sophisticated mechanism than Barking and Dagenham 

for communicating with its leaseholders. They provide high quality information 
packs; service charge bills are clear and understandable which have reduced the 
number of enquires/complaints. They also have good relationships with other 

Page 33



council departments, which ensures that when they raise a charge for a service, 
they can be certain that the service is being provided e.g. cleaning/ caretaking. 

 
6.9 The Scrutiny Panel concluded the visit as follows: 
 

• LB Greenwich provides an extensive service through its Home Ownership 
Service; its relationship with leaseholders is good and excellent levels of 
information are available through a wide range of leaflets and handbooks 

 
• LB Greenwich has excellent service charge collection rates and has a 

sophisticated information database on their clients. The billing process is clear 
and easily understandable which has resulted in the reduction of complaints. 

 
• In terms of value for money, the average service charges in LB Greenwich are 

25% higher than those in Barking and Dagenham. Also whilst LB Greenwich has 
approximately 30% more leasehold properties than Barking and Dagenham, 
their Home Ownership Team has 4 times as many staff.   

 
7. Consultation with Leaseholders 
 
7.1 At the meeting on 13 March 2006, the panel agreed that a member (Councillor) of 

the Scrutiny Panel would carry out a consultation with leaseholders to gauge their 
satisfaction with the services.  

 
7.2 Thirty leaseholders across the Borough were contacted to see if they were willing to 

take part in this, of which five welcomed this.   
 
7.3 Councillor Mrs Flint undertook a telephone consultative exercise mainly concerning 

the following questions: 
 

• Did you purchase your flat from the Council? 
• When you purchased your flat, were you informed of your rights and 

responsibilities? 
• Do you remember receiving a copy of the “Leasehold Newsletter”? 
• If you did was the information it contains useful/helpful? 
• What articles/topics would like to see in the Newsletter? 
• How do you feel about the way the Council manages your property? 
• What would you like the Council to do to improve the Service for you? 

 
7.4 The outcome of the consultation exercise is set out in Appendix 1. 
 
8. Equalities and Diversity 
 
8.1 The Scrutiny Panel considered any related equalities and diversity issues 

throughout its investigation.  
 
8.2 The Scrutiny Panel found that the translation of documents needs to be considered 

and addressed by the Home Ownership and Leasehold Service.  
 

Page 34



9. Progress made to date 
 
9.1 The Scrutiny Panel was particularly mindful of reviewing the arrangements at L.B. 

Greenwich, particularly in relation to the following and for officers to consider 
implementing these into local practice, where possible; particularly as they were 
mainly administrative and operational with minimal financial applications: 

 
• information for leaseholders, written and verbal 
• contact with leaseholders – in person and by telephone 
• information technology/ databases 

 
9.2 In view of the above, the following have been achieved / established to date: 
 

• extensive amounts of documentation, leaflets, information packs and practices 
obtained from LB Greenwich have been reviewed against the operations in 
Barking and Dagenham and the established for the Council.  

• local leaseholders would benefit from an information pack along similar lines to 
that provided by LB Greenwich. 

• the Council should publicise service charge payment methods 
• the Council should develop a leaflet explaining how we bill leaseholders 
• the Council develops a leaflet explaining how service charges are calculated 
• in relation to equality and diversity issues, translations of documents needs 

addressing 
• the Council should produce an annual report for leaseholders 
• the Council should support the development of a leaseholder group/ forum 

 
Attached at Appendix 2 is an action plan with timescales and financial implications 
for addressing these arrangements. 

 
9.3 Officers from the Home Ownership Team have met a representative of Barking and 

Dagenham Leaseholders’ Association with a view to supporting the development of 
a leaseholder group/forum. The meeting was productive and the actions from this 
meeting are reflected in Appendix 2. 

 
9.4  In terms of information technology and databases, the Homeownership Team within 

the Council use a number of IT systems to support the work: 
 

• the mainframe system to support the Right to Buy process 
• ORACLE as part of the Council’s financial management system: and 
• excel spread sheets to estimate/calculate reserve fund contributions 

 
9.5  The IT system within the Home Ownership Team would benefit from enhancements 

and improvements. However, there are high costs associated with updating/ 
improving IT systems. The Customer Services Department is planning to replace 
the current housing IT systems with a new comprehensive system, which would 
also include the functions of the Home Ownership Service. Given the scale of this 
piece of work, it is likely to take up to two years to procure a new system. 

 
9.6  The Home Ownership Team will scope out their requirements to ensure that when 

the specification for the new housing IT system is developed the needs of the team 
and the customers will be met. 

Page 35



 
10. Consultees 
 
10.1 The following were consulted in the preparation of this report: 
 

• Members of the Leaseholders Management Scrutiny Panel 
• The Corporate Management Team  
• Danny Caine, Business Manager, Housing Services, Customer Services 

Department 
• Jim Ripley, Divisional Director of Housing Services, Customer Services 

Department  
• Beryl Males and Fred Button, Barking & Dagenham Leaseholders’ Association  
• Christine Shepherd, Head of Human Resources, Resources Department 
• Nina Clark, Assistant Chief Executive (Democracy & Partnerships).  

 

Page 36



Appendix 1 
 
FEEDBACK FROM FIVE LEASEHOLDERS WHO HAD WELCOMED CONTACT FROM 
A MEMBER (COUNCILLOR) OF THE LEASEHOLD MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
Two had purchased from the London Borough of Barking & Dagenham Direct and two had 
purchased privately 
 
Most had lived in a property for 7 to 8 years. 
 
One Leaseholder could not be contacted at times stated and the consultation process was 
aborted. 
 
All informed of their rights and responsibilities  
 
All received a copy of the Leaseholder Newsletter  
 
All Leaseholders consulted were fairly happy with the way the Council manages the 
property although for two there were a few hiccups which were eventually sorted. 
Concerns  
 
Parents with children were concerned about vandalism of digital locks in the blocks and 
having to pay as well for this? 
 
Value for money for service charges 
 
Thames Accord who do not finish jobs 
 
Leaseholder meeting – too short notice given 
 
No invoices received for works carried out to block 
 
Works planned – new roof has not materialised 
 
Having to query bills etc 
 
Outside of homes not being decorated every 7 years 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



A
pp

en
di

x 
2 

 
A

C
TI

O
N

 P
LA

N
 F

O
R

 T
H

E 
LE

A
SE

H
O

LD
 M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 
SC

R
U

TI
N

Y 
PA

N
EL

 
 

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

  

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

D
ea

dl
in

e 
fo

r 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

 
Es

tim
at

e 
of

 C
os

t  
H

ow
 p

ro
je

ct
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

m
on

ito
re

d 

D
ev

el
op

 L
ea

se
ho

ld
er

  
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
P

ac
k 

R
. K

ob
er

 
O

ct
ob

er
 2

00
6 

£3
,0

00
 (i

nc
lu

de
s 

pr
in

tin
g 

ch
ar

ge
s)

 
M

or
e 

in
fo

rm
ed

 le
as

eh
ol

de
rs

 
 R

ed
uc

tio
n 

le
as

eh
ol

d 
bi

ll 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s 
 

P
ub

lic
is

e 
pa

ym
en

t m
et

ho
ds

  
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
ne

xt
 

Le
as

eh
ol

de
rs

 N
ew

sl
et

te
r 

 

R
. K

ob
er

 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
00

6 
W

ith
in

 e
xi

st
in

g 
bu

dg
et

 
In

cr
ea

se
d 

re
ve

nu
e 

P
ro

du
ce

 le
af

le
t e

xp
la

in
in

g 
th

e 
le

as
eh

ol
d 

bi
ll 

 

R
. K

ob
er

 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
00

6 
£1

00
0 

(in
cl

ud
es

 p
rin

tin
g 

ch
ar

ge
s)

 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

le
as

eh
ol

d 
bi

ll 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s 

P
ro

du
ce

 le
af

le
t e

xp
la

in
in

g 
ho

w
 s

er
vi

ce
 c

ha
rg

es
 a

re
 

ca
lc

ul
at

ed
 

R
. K

ob
er

 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
00

6 
£1

00
 (i

nc
lu

de
s 

pr
in

tin
g 

ch
ar

ge
s)

 
M

or
e 

in
fo

rm
ed

 le
as

eh
ol

de
rs

 
 R

ed
uc

tio
n 

le
as

eh
ol

d 
bi

ll 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s 
 

R
ev

ie
w

 p
rin

te
d 

do
cu

m
en

ts
 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
cl

ar
ity

 o
f t

er
m

s 
an

d 
la

ng
ua

ge
 

 

R
. K

ob
er

 
S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
00

6 
W

ith
in

 e
xi

st
in

g 
bu

dg
et

 
In

cr
ea

se
 in

 k
no

w
le

dg
e 

on
 th

e 
pa

rt 
of

 th
e 

cu
st

om
er

  
 

Le
as

eh
ol

de
r C

on
fe

re
nc

e 
R

. K
ob

er
 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

6 
W

ith
in

 e
xi

st
in

g 
bu

dg
et

 
P

ub
lic

is
e 

th
e 

le
as

eh
ol

d 
se

rv
ic

e 
 Fo

ru
m

 fo
r l

ea
se

ho
ld

er
s 

to
 

sh
ar

e 
th

ei
r v

ie
w

s 
 

Page 39



R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

  

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

D
ea

dl
in

e 
fo

r 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

 
Es

tim
at

e 
of

 C
os

t  
H

ow
 p

ro
je

ct
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

m
on

ito
re

d 

S
up

po
rti

ng
 B

ar
ki

ng
 &

 
D

ag
en

ha
m

 
Le

as
eh

ol
de

rs
’ 

A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n 

(B
D

LA
): 

 • 
A

n 
ar

tic
le

 in
 th

e 
Le

as
eh

ol
de

r 
N

ew
sl

et
te

r  
• 

D
is

tri
bu

tio
n 

of
 B

D
LA

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
/ l

ite
ra

tu
re

 to
 

le
as

eh
ol

de
rs

 
• 

E
st

ab
lis

hi
ng

 re
gu

la
r 

m
ee

tin
gs

 w
ith

 c
ou

nc
il 

of
fic

er
s 

to
 d

is
cu

ss
 is

su
es

 
of

 c
on

ce
rn

 a
nd

 
op

po
rtu

ni
tie

s 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

to
 

le
as

eh
ol

de
rs

 
• 

E
st

ab
lis

h 
le

as
eh

ol
de

rs
 

fo
cu

s 
gr

ou
p 

 

R
. K

ob
er

 
     

A
ug

us
t 2

00
6 

  
O

ng
oi

ng
 

  
Ju

ly
 a

nd
 o

ng
oi

ng
 

      
A

ug
us

t a
nd

 
on

go
in

g 

W
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

bu
dg

et
  

     R
ai

se
 a

w
ar

en
es

s 
of

 B
D

LA
 

 R
ai

se
 a

w
ar

en
es

s 
of

 B
D

LA
 

 Im
pr

ov
e 

re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

w
ith

 
co

un
ci

l a
nd

 le
as

eh
ol

de
rs

 
    G
re

at
er

 in
vo

lv
em

en
t o

f 
cu

st
om

er
s 

in
 s

er
vi

ce
 p

ro
vi

si
on

 
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 o

n 
co

ns
ul

ta
tiv

e 
pr

oc
es

s 

S
co

pe
 o

ut
 IT

 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 

R
.K

ob
er

 
A

ug
us

t 2
00

6 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

ta
l r

es
ou

rc
es

, 
ho

w
ev

er
, a

m
ou

nt
 u

nk
no

w
n 

to
 d

at
e 

 

IT
 s

pe
ci

fic
at

io
n 

 

 

Page 40


